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UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION 

OFFICE FOR CIVIL RIGHTS, REGION XV 

 
1350 EUCLID AVENUE,  SUITE 325  

CLEVELAND, OH  44115  

 

REGION XV 

MICHIGAN 

OHIO 

     September 19, 2019 

 

 

Emily R. Spivack, Esq. 

Squire Patton Boggs LLP  

4900 Key Tower 

127 Public Square 

Cleveland, Ohio 44114 

 

Re:  OCR Docket No. 15-18-2088 

 

Dear Ms. Spivack: 

 

This letter is to notify you of the disposition of the above-referenced complaint filed on February 

7, 2018, with the U.S. Department of Education (Department), Office for Civil Rights (OCR), 

against Hiram College (the College) alleging that the College discriminated against a student (the 

Student based on disability.  Specifically, the complaint alleged that: 

 

1. During the XXXX school year, the College failed to provide a student (the Student) with 

agreed-upon disability-related academic adjustments XXXXX.  

 

2. The College denied the Student’s request for modified deadlines for assignments, which 

the Complainant alleged was necessary for the Student to participate in the College’s 

academic program. 

 

OCR enforces Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 (Section 504), 29 U.S.C. § 794, and 

its implementing regulation at 34 C.F.R. Part 104, which prohibit discrimination on the basis of 

disability by recipients of federal financial assistance.  As a recipient of federal financial 

assistance from the Department the College is subject to this law. 

 

Based on the complaint allegations, OCR opened an investigation of the following legal issues:  

 

• Whether the College excluded a student with a disability from participation in, denied the 

student the benefits of, or otherwise subjected the student to discrimination based on 

disability under its academic program in violation of Section 504’s implementing 

regulation at 34 C.F.R. § 104.43. 

 

• Whether the College failed to make modifications to its academic requirements as 

necessary to ensure that such requirements did not discriminate or have the effect of 

discriminating against a qualified student with a disability, in violation of Section 504’s 

implementing regulation at 34 C.F.R. § 104.44(a). 
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To conduct its investigation OCR reviewed documents provided by the College and the 

Student’s parent.  OCR also interviewed the Student’s parent, the Student, and College staff, 

including the Coordinator of Academic Development and the Director of Counseling, Health and 

Disability Services.  After a careful review and analysis of the information obtained during its 

investigation, OCR found insufficient evidence of a violation of Section 504 regarding 

Allegation 1.  However, OCR determined that the evidence was sufficient to establish a violation 

of Section 504 regarding Allegation 2.  On September 16, 2019, the College signed the enclosed 

resolution agreement, which, once implemented, will address the Section 504 violation OCR 

identified.  A summary of OCR’s investigation, and the bases for its findings, are presented 

below.   

 

Summary of OCR’s Investigation 

 

The Student enrolled as a XXX at the College for the XXXX school year.  Prior to the beginning 

of the school year, the Student’s parents provided the College with documentation indicating the 

Student was a student with a disability.  The College’s Director of Counseling, Health and 

Disability Services (the director) sent the Student an accommodation letter by e-mail on XXX.  

The Student’s parent told OCR that the College initially provided the Student XXX as 

accommodations for her XXX; however, the Student was not provided these accommodations 

during a XXXXX course that ended XXXXX.  

 

The College’s Coordinator of Academic Development (the coordinator) told OCR that one of her 

primary duties is to assist students receiving academic accommodations and that some students 

elect to take their exams in her office.  After those students reserve a time with her, the 

coordinator arranges with the professor to receive and return the exam.  

 

The Student was enrolled in the College’s XXXXX.  The College provided OCR with the course 

syllabus, which indicated that the course had XXX exams scheduled XXXXX.   

 

[XXX PARAGRAPH REDACTEDXXX] 

 

[XXX PARAGRAH REDACTEDXXX] 

 

[XXX PARAGRAH REDACTEDXXX] 

 

[XXX PARAGRAH REDACTEDXXX] 

 

[XXX PARAGRAH REDACTEDXXX] 

 

[XXX PARAGRAH REDACTEDXXX] 

 

[XXX PARAGRAH REDACTEDXXX] 

  

 

[XXX PARAGRAH REDACTEDXXX] 
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The College provided OCR with a copy of its Student Disability Services Handbook, which 

indicated that, when determining whether an accommodation fundamentally alters the nature of 

the College’s program, the College will convene a committee of persons knowledgeable about a 

student’s disability and about the program to engage in a careful, thoughtful deliberation of: the 

program or course requirements at issue; whether the requirements are essential; the feasibility, 

cost and effect on the program; and any available alternatives.  The committee is to document the 

conclusions reached and the reasons for them and provide copies to the disability services office.  

 

The XX told OCR that he convened a committee (the committee) on XX to determine whether 

the Student’s requested accommodation XXXX was a fundamental alteration of the College’s 

program.  The XXX told OCR that this was the first time the College had formed a committee to 

determine whether a requested accommodation was a fundamental alteration during his seven 

years at the College.  The director stated that the committee included: himself, XXX1.  The 

director told OCR that XXX was included because he thought it was important that the 

committee include staff members who were also instructors and noted that XXX.  The XXX told 

OCR that XXX.  The XXX told OCR that the committee thought it would be difficult to 

determine the Student’s XXX and was concerned that the Student would be XXX.  The 

committee decided that granting the accommodation would fundamentally alter the College’s 

programs as class participation and collaborative group work is “integral to the College’s 

academic structure”.  The XXX stated that professors can grant additional time for assignments 

if they choose and noted that professors XXX.  The XXX told OCR that the meeting lasted 45 

minutes, that the committee did not discuss any alternatives, and that there were no notes 

reflecting the committee’s discussion.   

 

The College provided OCR with a letter dated XXX, written by the XXX to OCR regarding the 

committee’s determination.  The XXX, who was a member of committee, indicated that the 

Student’s disabilities XXX.  The XXX indicated the committee determined that the 

accommodation request XXX was a fundamental alteration because: 

 

1. the accommodation would impede the Student’s progress; 

2. the accommodation would interfere with several core goals of the College’s courses; and 

3. the accommodation could not be consistently applied to every course without requiring 

revisions to the course plans.  

 

The XXX asserted that granting the accommodation would have resulted in the Student being 

unprepared for class and unable to progress in the curriculum unless instructors modified their 

teaching plans.  The XXX indicated that granting the accommodation would have necessitated 

XXX.  The committee believed that it was impossible to XXX without requiring professors to 

restructure their syllabi.  The XXX also noted that it would difficult to provide XXX as the 

College has 3-week courses, where students take one course for four hours each day; and 12-

week courses, where students take multiple courses over 12 weeks.  However, the XXX 

indicated that the College’s professors can permit XXX on a case-by-case basis as “professors 

are able to decide for themselves how to best serve the student while still protecting the integrity 

of their program.”   

 
1 [XXX PARAGRAH REDACTEDXXX] 
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On XXX e-mailed the Student’s parent indicating that the committee had denied the XXX 

because the accommodation would fundamentally alter the nature of the College’s academic 

program.  The director indicated that professors are not required to modify XXX if it alters the 

structure and/or integrity of their courses.  The director offered to work with the Student on 

XXX. The director also indicated the Student would be granted the following accommodations: 

 

[XXX PARAGRAH REDACTEDXXX] 

 

On XXX e-mailed the Student an updated accommodation letter reflecting the accommodations 

listed above except XXX.  

 

[XXX PARAGRAH REDACTEDXXX] 

 

The Student told OCR that she wanted XXX.  The Student stated that she was requesting a XXX 

as her needs were not specific to any course.  For the XXX semester, the Student told OCR that 

XXX she believes she would have been less overwhelmed if the College had granted her 

requested accommodation.  The Student’s transcript, provided by the College, showed that she 

received an XXX.    

 

[XXX PARAGRAH REDACTEDXXX] 

 

Applicable Regulatory Standards 

 

The regulation implementing Section 504, at 34 C.F.R. § 104.4(a), states that no qualified 

individual with a disability shall, on the basis of disability, be excluded from participation in, be 

denied the benefits of, or otherwise be subjected to discrimination under any program or activity 

which receives or benefits from federal financial assistance.  In addition, 34 C.F.R. § 104.43(a) 

states that a qualified student with a disability shall not, on the basis of disability, be excluded 

from participation in, be denied the benefits of, or otherwise be subjected to discrimination under 

a recipient’s postsecondary education program. 

 

The Section 504 implementing regulation at 34 C.F.R. § 104.4(b)(1)(ii) prohibits a recipient 

from affording a qualified person with a disability an opportunity to participate in or benefit from 

the entity’s aid, benefit, or service that is not equal to that afforded to others.  In addition, the 

Section 504 regulation provides, at 34 C.F.R. § 104.44(a), that a recipient shall make such 

modifications to its academic requirements as are necessary to ensure that such requirements do 

not discriminate or have the effect of discriminating, on the basis of disability, against a qualified 

student with a disability.  Academic requirements that the recipient can demonstrate are essential 

to the instruction being pursued by such student will not be regarded as discriminatory within the 

meaning of this section.     

 

With regard to whether a requested academic adjustment or auxiliary aid would fundamentally 

alter an essential program requirement, OCR gives deference to an institution’s academic 

decision-making.  However, in order to receive such deference, relevant officials within the 
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institution are required to have engaged in a reasoned deliberation, including a diligent 

assessment of available options. 

 

With appropriate notice to students, postsecondary institutions such as the College may require 

students with disabilities to follow reasonable procedures to request academic adjustments. 

 

Analysis 

 

• Allegation 1 

 

[XXX PARAGRAH REDACTEDXXX] 

 

[XXX PARAGRAH REDACTEDXXX] 

 

In light of the foregoing, OCR finds that there is insufficient evidence that the College failed to 

accommodate the Student during her XXX exams during the XXX semester as alleged.   

 

• Allegation 2 

 

As described above, the committee determined that the Student’s request for XXX was a 

fundamental alteration of the College’s program.  While the committee asserted that XXX 

amounted to a fundamental alteration, both the XXX and the XXX noted that professors could 

grant XXX at their discretion.  If such arrangements were anticipated and permitted by the 

committee, the provision of the accommodation could not have been a per se fundamental 

alteration of all College courses as asserted by the committee.   

 

If the committee was concerned that the accommodation may have been a fundamental alteration 

in some of the Student’s courses, the committee should have reached a conclusion for each 

course and not have left the decision to individual professors’ determinations.  In addition, 

additional officials such as academic department heads should have been included in the 

committee determination.  The department heads could have provided input on how the 

accommodation could be implemented in their respective departments.  Further, the additional 

committee members could have assisted the committee in considering whether there were 

alternatives available to assist the Student.  There is no evidence that the computer science 

professor had specific knowledge of Student’s courses as her transcript indicated she was not 

enrolled in any computer science courses and had not declared a major.  The committee did not 

consider any alternatives in making its determination. 

 

Based on the evidence obtained, OCR finds that the College failed to comply with the Section 

504 regulation at 34 C.F.R. § 104.44 when denied the Student’s requested accommodation of 

XXX.      

 

Voluntary Resolution and Conclusion 

 

As noted above, on September 16, 2019, the College signed the enclosed resolution agreement, 

which once implemented, will address this violation.   
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OCR notes that the College’s policies and procedures concerning academic adjustments for 

students with disabilities and the College’s process for determining whether a requested 

adjustment would fundamentally alter the College’s program were already reviewed and 

approved under another case, OCR Docket #15-08-2076.  OCR’s monitoring of the College’s 

implementation of that resolution agreement concluded on January 19, 2012.  During its 

investigation of this complaint, the College indicated that the previously approved written 

policies and procedures are still in effect; however, OCR determined that the College’s staff 

required further training on the College’s process for determining whether a request constitutes a 

fundamental alteration.  The agreement requires the College to provide this training.     

 

XXX.  Additionally, despite the College’s failure to properly consider the Student’s requested 

accommodation, the evidence did not support that the Student suffered a specific harm that can 

be remedied at this juncture.  As such, the resolution agreement does not contain any individual 

remedies to resolve this allegation.   

 

This concludes OCR’s investigation of the complaint and should not be interpreted to address the 

College’s compliance with any other regulatory provision or to address any issues other than 

those addressed in this letter.  This letter sets forth OCR’s determination in an individual OCR 

case.  This letter is not a formal statement of OCR policy and should not be relied upon, cited, or 

construed as such.  OCR’s formal policy statements are approved by a duly authorized OCR 

official and made available to the public. 

 

The complainant has a right to appeal OCR’s determination within 60 calendar days of the date 

indicated on this letter.  In the appeal, the complainant must explain why the factual information 

was incomplete or incorrect, why the legal analysis was incorrect or the appropriate legal 

standard was not applied, and how correction of any error(s) would change the outcome of the 

case; failure to do so may result in dismissal of the appeal.  If the complainant appeals OCR’s 

determination, OCR will forward a copy of the appeal form or written statement to the recipient.  

The recipient has the option to submit to OCR a response to the appeal.  The recipient must 

submit any response within 14 calendar days of the date that OCR forwarded a copy of the 

appeal to the recipient. 

 

Please be advised that the College may not harass, coerce, intimidate, or discriminate against any 

individual because he or she has filed a complaint or participated in the complaint resolution 

process.  If this happens, the individual may file another complaint alleging such treatment.   

 

Under the Freedom of Information Act, it may be necessary to release this document and related 

correspondence and records upon request.  In the event that OCR receives such a request, OCR 

will seek to protect, to the extent provided by law, personally identifiable information, which, if 

released, could reasonably be expected to constitute an unwarranted invasion of personal 

privacy. 

 

The Complainant may file a private suit in federal court, whether or not OCR finds a violation. 
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OCR looks forward to receiving the College’s first monitoring report by February 17, 2020.  For 

questions about implementation of the Agreement, please contact OCR attorney David Schwark.  

Mr. Schwark will be overseeing the monitoring and can be reached by telephone at (216) 522-

7629 or by e-mail at David.Schwark@ed.gov.  If you have questions about this letter, please 

contact me by telephone at (216) 522-2667, or by e-mail at Brenda.Redmond@ed.gov.  

 

Sincerely, 

 

 

/S 

Brenda Redmond 

Supervisory Attorney/Team Leader  

 

Enclosure 

 


